



The Dickinson Alumnus

Published Quarterly for the Alumni of Dickinson College and the Dickinson School of Law

Editor - - - - - - - - - - - Gilbert Malcolm, '15, '17L Associate Editors - Dean M. Hoffman, '02, Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., '35

Terms Expire in 1947
Harry B. Stock, '91
Harry H. Nuttle, '06
Paul L. Hutchison, '18
Morris E. Swartz, Jr., '23
Park H. Loose, '27
George S. Hewitt,
Class of 1944

5000

Term Expires in 1948 Glenn E. Todd, '12 C. Wendell Holmes, '21 Judge Charles S. Williams, '26 W. Reese Hitchens, '28 Christian F. Spahr, '33 Mrs. Nancy Tatnall Fuller, Class of 1945 Term Expires in 1949 Arthur J. Latham, '10 Dr. Oscar J. Eichhorn, '17 J. Milton Davidson, II, '33 John F. Bacon, '38 Dr. John P. Milligan, '39 Patricia A. Rupp, Class of 1946

GENERAL ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON COLLEGE

President ... Paul L. Hutchison
Vice-President Arthur J. Latham
Secretary ... C. Wendell Holmes
Treasurer ... Glenn E. Todd

ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON SCHOOL OF LAW

President ..Justice John W. Kephart* First Vice-Pres.Robert Hays Smith Sec'y.-Treas.Joseph P. McKeehan * Deceased

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Install Edel as 22nd College President	1
Name Mrs. Norcross Dean of Women	3
Alumnus Writes Biography of Great Judge	4
Becomes Attorney General of Delaware	6
Another Dickinsonian Goes to Congress	7
18 New Lifers Raise Total to 642	11
Add Nine to Faculty Bringing Total to 58	12
Alumni Meet in Dinners in Cleveland and Chicago	15
Editorial	16
Football Team Enjoys Best Season in Years	18
Letter Relates Story of Rebel Invasion, 1863	20
Personals	22
Obituary	29

Life Membership \$40. May be paid in two installments of \$20 each, six months apart or in \$10 installments.

Alumni dues \$2.00 per year, including \$1.00 for one year's subscription to the magazine. All communications should be addressed to

The Dickinson Alumnus, West College, Carlisle, Pa.
"Entered as second-class matter May 23, 1923, at the post office at
Carlisle, Pennsylvania, under the Act of March 3, 1879."

THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS

DECEMBER, 1946

Install Edel as 22nd College President

WITH a forceful and eloquent statement of his educational philosophy for Dickinson and the liberal arts, William W. Edel, '15, was inaugurated as 22nd president of Dickinson College in academic exercises of traditional pomp

and formality on October 26.

After analyzing the awful condition to which science without morality has brought civilization, President Edel affirmed his conviction that the ideal education is one "which sees that truth is fitly framed together and coherent within itself, and that what is within man is a part of truth no less true than any other fact of science.

"I believe the hope of today and tomorrow," he went on, "lies in moral guidance, in a proper understanding of values and meanings, and I know that these things come only from a sound religious attitude. I believe wisdom and

understanding can come from seeing life whole, with all its relationships in place. And I believe a fully articulated liberal education is essential as the basis for

that understanding."

Delegates from several hundred colleges and learned associations brought the greetings of their institutions to Dickinson on the occasion of the inauguration; and, together with the faculty and trustees of the College, they marched in the colorful academic procession under a perfect October sky through the campus to the Alumni Gymnasium where the

formal exercises were held.

The inaugural week-end got off to an early start on Friday evening when the student body, behind the College band and cheer-leaders, marched around the campus and up to the President's House, where Warren H. Spencer, '48, president of the Student Senate, presented President Edel with a leather-bound expression of greeting and best wishes signed by all the students. President Edel responded

briefly, introducing members of his family who were with him.

During Saturday morning guests registered on their arrival in Memorial Hall, West College. All attended a luncheon in the College Commons at noon. There President Daniel L. Marsh of Boston University and Dr. Theordore K. Distler of Franklin and Marshall College lightly and pleasantly welcomed President Edel into the uneasy fraternity of college presidents, whose paths are beset by alumni, trustees, professors, students, and deficits. Captain John W. Moore, USN, brought greeting from the United States Navy.

Four addresses of greeting to the new president were made at the inaugural convocation in the Alumni Gymnasium. Paul L. Hutchison, '18, '23L, Harrisburg attorney and president of the General Alumni Association, spoke for the alumni, Dean Ernest A. Vuilleumier, for the faculty, Warren H. Spencer, '48, for the undergraduates, and President George W. McClelland, of the University of Pennsylvania, for the colleges and universities

represented.

The formal charge to the new president was delivered by Boyd Lee Spahr, '00, Philadelphia attorney and president of the Board of Trustees. The new president then doffed his robes and put on the purple gown which is the official costume of the president of the College.

In his inaugural address President Edel particularly addressed the several groups before him, the trustees, the alumni, the faculty, whom he referred to as the heart of the college, and the student body. "If such education as I envision for Dickinson is to mean anything," he told the undergraduates, "it must be meaningful to you who are intimately concerned with it. For you I covet ever-widening horizons of truth and beauty, of value and usefulness, ever-deepening understanding

of the meaning of your world, and evergrowing adequacy in meeting and mastering life."

Four honorary degrees were conferred. Dr. McClelland received the degree of doctor of laws, as did President Distler. The degree of doctor of humane letters went to Dr. Ivan M. Gould, executive secretary of the Pennsylvania Federation of Churches. John Charles Thomas, noted baritone, former student at Conway Hall, who received the degree of master of music in 1933, was awarded the degree of doctor of music.

A highlight of the inauguration program came when Mr. Thomas sang "Noble Dickinsonia" as the closing event.

After the formal exercises in the Alumni Gymnasium, President and Mrs. Edel and their family received guests, alumni, and friends of the College in a reception at the President's Home. In the receiving line, a proud and happy mother, was Mrs. John Wesley Edel, Sr., of Baltimore, mother of the new president.

Arrangements for the inauguration were made by a committee of faculty members, alumni, and trustees, headed by Professor Herbert Wing, Jr.

In presenting the four honorary degrees, President Edel made the following citations:

MARCELLUS IVAN GOULD. graduate of Syracuse University and the Union Theological Seminary, by your work with the International Council of Religious Education, the World Student Federation, and the Ecumenical Youth Commission, you have already won recognition as a leader of worldwide Christian youth. During the period of the recent war, as a result of your wise planning and effective leadership, the Service Men's Christian League which you headed became the largest Christian Youth movement in the world; and now the Pennsylvania Council of Churches has called you to be its executive, thus further singling you out as one of the

foremost American leaders of interdenominational and ecumenical Christianity.

JOHN CHARLES THOMAS, your record is one of long devotion to music, of high achievement in the development of a natural gift, and of pleasure bestowed upon unnumbered thousands who have heard your voice. Your artistry has brought distinction to light opera, the concert stage, opera, radio and the screen. By your efforts and the high quality of your work you have made an important contribution to the appreciation of good music in the United States.

THEODORE AUGUST DISTLER. graduate of New York University, college teacher and administrator, president of Franklin and Marshall College: your career has been in itself an epitome of liberal education. Your activities have distinguished the class-room, a college deanship and the presidency of a venerable institution. Through your leadership of the Pennsylvania Association of Colleges and Universities you have contributed broadly to the cause of higher education in this state, and at the same time you have discharged the responsibilities of citizenship in a democracy by throwing the full weight of your ability and influence behind a wide range of projects for the community good.

GEORGE WILLIAM McCLELLAND, graduate of the University of Pennsylvania, teacher of English, educational administrator, and university president: your career has included a wide range of services to the furtherance of higher education. As a learned and sympathetic critic of English literature, as a writer, as Secretary of the Middle States Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools for many years, as Provost and now as President of the University of Pennsylvania, you have left the mark of high accomplishment on all you have undertaken.

Name Mrs. Norcross Dean of Women

M RS. Helen Burns Norcross, '12, widow of Dr. Wilbur Harrington Norcross, '07, who was professor of psychology at the College from 1916 to 1941, was appointed dean of women by President William W. Edel in September.

Mrs. Norcross succeeds Dean Josephine B. Meredith, '01, dean of women since 1921. Mrs. Meredith is devoting her full time to teaching as professor of

English.

Prior to her marriage Mrs. Norcross was College librarian and during the war she was a member of the war college faculty under the Army Air Cadet Training Program. After graduating from Dickinson, Mrs. Norcross did graduate work at Bryn Mawr College and was graduated from the Library School of the Drexel Institute in Philadelphia. She was then cataloguer in the Purdue University Library and chaperone at the Kappa Alpha Theta sorority house there.

Mrs. Norcross is a member of Pi Beta Phi and for some years was adviser of the Dickinson chapter of the sorority. In 1931 she was elected president of the Carlisle branch of the American Association of University Women, serving two years. She has also served a two-year term as president of the Carlisle Civic Club, and in 1933-35 was regent of the Cumberland County chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution.

Mrs. Norcross has held state offices in the Daughters of the American Revolution and the A. A. U. W. From 1938 to 1941 she was state chairman of education of the Pennsylvania Federation of Women's Clubs. She was a member of the State Library Planning Board from

Named University Regent

1941 to 1945.

Roscoe O. Bonisteel, '12, prominent attorney of Ann Arbor, Mich., was appointed last month a regent of the University of Michigan by the governor of that state. He is the third Dickinsonian to hold membership on the Board of Regents, having been preceded by Ross



DEAN HELEN B. NORCROSS

Wilkins of the class of 1816 in 1837-38 and by Robert McClelland of the class of 1829 in the 1838 and 1850.

After leaving Dickinson, Mr. Bonisteel attended the University of Michigan Law School, from which he was graduated in 1912. He has been in practice in Ann Arbor since that time. In 1936 he was president of the Michigan Bar Association and in 1929 was grand master of the Grand Lodge, F. and A. M. of Michigan.

At the annual Dickinson commencement last June Mr. Bonisteel presented to the college a portrait of Robert Mc-Clelland, who served as United States Senator and Governor of Michigan and Secretary of the Interior under President Pierce.

Joins Phi Beta Kappa

Dr. George H. Armacost, '26, president of the University of the Redlands, Redlands, Calif., was initiated as an honorary member of the Pennsylvania Alpha Chapter of Phi Beta Kappa when he visited the College in October. Prior to becoming president of the University of Redlands Dr. Armacost was dean at William and Mary College.

Alumnus Writes Biography of Great Judge

PROFESSOR Alpheus Thomas Mason, '20, professor of politics in Princeton University, has brought a long study of the life and work of the late Justice Brandeis of the United States Supreme Court to a significant point with the publication of a life of that great figure under the title of Brandeis: A Free Man's Life.

This biography is the fourth study of Brandeis which Professor Mason has published. It was prepared with the full cooperation and assistance of Justice Brandeis and his family. Professor Mason had access to the Brandeis papers and particularly after the Justice's retirement from the bench he had many interviews with Brandeis in which the judge reviewed the events of his long career.

Professor Mason's earlier publications on Brandeis are Brandeis: Lawyer and Judge in the Modern State (1933), The Brandeis Way (1938), and Bureaucracy Convicts Itself (1941). He is also the author of another volume and of numerous articles in professional and other journals.

Professor Mason was born in Snow Hill, Md., in 1899. After completing his work at Dickinson, where he was graduated with Phi Beta Kappa honors, he did graduate work at Princeton University, receiving his doctorate in 1923. After several years at Duke University, he returned to Princeton. He received his present rank of professor in 1936.

Of his work in the college at Princeton an undergraduate publication has reported: "Professor Mason's course is one of the best in any department, necessary for a proper understanding of American law, literature, history, or political tradition. . . The lectures are guaranteed to keep you writing furiously until the second bell, and they'll wake the hardiest sleeper at nine in the morning."

In 1935 Professor Mason received a grant-in-aid of the Social Science Research Council for the study of trade unionism in England. During this time he lectured



ALPHEUS T. MASON

at the Liberal Summer School at Cambridge in England.

Writes Laboratory Guide

D. Paul Rogers, '16, is author of a newly published "Laboratory Guide for Sewage Works Operators." Rogers is principal chemist in the Pennsylvania Department of Health.

In 1945 a lecture-laboratory course in sewage treatment was held in Philadelphia. Rogers was in charge of the laboratory work. It was in response to numerous requests on the part of his associates and students that Rogers prepared this laboratory guide. It is copyright 1946, and published by the Pennsylvania Sewage Works Association.

Professor Marries

Dr. Bernice K. Grubb, associate professor of romance languages at the College, and Robert F. Zissa, a student of journalism at Syracuse University, were married on December 23 in Syracuse, N. Y.

Justice Brandeis in a Full Length Portrait

By ROBERT A. HORN

Dr. Horn, a member of the department of Government of Harvard University, taught at Dickinson College during the summer session.

PROFESSOR Alpheus Thomas Mason of Princeton has now furnished every reader interested in the history of his country and of his own times a full-dress portrait of one of the great Americans who gave direction to the democratic way of life.

In Brandeis: A Free Man's Life (Viking, \$5), Professor Mason has presented the life of the great liberal justice of the United States Supreme Court from 1916 to 1939. Brandeis' career is followed from his childhood and education abroad through his brilliant record at the Harvard Law School, his pioneering work at the bar as a self-dedicated attorney for the people, his close association with Wood-

row Wilson, to the years when a; a member of the high court he wrote the great dissents that linked his name with Holmes'.

Today the views of Brandeis and Holmes, once expressed in vivid dissent, have triumphed over the inflexible conservatism with which they struggled. By his passionate insistence that law must speak from the facts and must fulfil the needs of an ever-changing society, Brandeis educated a whole generation of lawyers, statesmen, and teachers.

This is the story that Professor Mason tells, and tells in a felicitous style that enhances all the more the attractiveness of his subject. While the book will have special appeal to all those interested in law and politics, it is no mere technical study. Instead, because of the wide range of Brandeis' interests and associations, it is really a rich and meaty slice of American life in this century.

Studies Early College Library

James W. Phillips, formerly reference librarian, who was appointed assistant librarian of the College last month, read a paper on "The Original Dickinson College Library" before the Pennsylvania Historical Association at its annual meeting in Reading on October 25.

Mr. Phillips, who is particularly in charge of the Dickinsoniana collection, has located all the books which belonged to the original library and has succeeded in identifying the original owners of many of these volumes. Not only did the College receive books from John Dickinson which had belonged to his father-in-law Isaac Norris, but among the library's benefactors were Granville Sharp and Dr. Richard Price, English liberals, Dr. John Coakley Lettsom, a famous London physician of the day, Judge Richard Peters, of Philadelphia, Robert Bell and Thomas Dobson, Philadelphia booksellers, and others.

By carefully examining the Norris

books Mr. Phillips concluded that the Norris library was one of the great private libraries of the American colonies, deserving to rank with the collections of Thomas Prince, and William Byrd.

Writes Children's Book

Professor William Sloane, who ioined the English department of the College this year, is the author of a recently published book for children entitled "The British Isles."

The book explains in simple and direct language the development of democratic ideas and ideals in England and their extension to this country. It also provides a basis for understanding contemporary England.

Professor Sloane, who is a native of Scotland, taught at Brooklyn College, St. Francis College, and Russell Sage College before coming to Dickinson in October.

Becomes Attorney General of Delaware

A LBERT W. JAMES, '27L, since 1941 mayor of Wilmington, prominent member of the Bar, and former professor of law, was elected Attorney General of Delaware in the November elections.

His rise to one of the highest posts in Delaware might well be pictured as another American saga, for he can look back to the day when he was employed as a youth in the National Stockyards of East St. Louis, Ill., as a cattle driver. Later he was employed as a shipping clerk in Nashville, Tenn., as a stockroom clerk in Tulsa, Okla., and he has also been a Western Union messenger.

Born in Cobden, Ill., on June 12, 1902, he moved with his family to Wilmington as a youth and became a machinist's helper in the Pennsylvania Railroad shops. He then worked as a clerk in the DuPont Company until 1922 when he returned to school to study law. After attending Beacom College, Wilmington, he graduated from the Wilmington High School and entered the Dickinson School of Law from which he received the LL.B. degree in 1927.

Upon his graduation from the Law School he spent two years in the claim department of the Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland, and then was professor of law at Goldey College, Wilmington, from 1929 to 1933. He was president of the Wilmington City Council from 1935 to 1940, and Deputy Attorney General in charge of taxes from 1938 to 1940.

In 1935 he was elected president of the City Council in Wilmington, and in 1940, when Mayor Bacon resigned to become governor, he became mayor by the unanimous vote of the City Council. He was then elected mayor in 1941 and reelected in 1943. During his administration as mayor a sound and permanent police and firemen's pension fund was established in Wilmington;



ALBERT W. JAMES

the Board of Health was modernized and made much more effective; the city assessment for school purposes was increased. Although the City of Wilmington incurred many added expenses because of the war effort, its surplus at the end of each year increased from \$450,000 in 1941 to \$719,000 at the end of his term in 1945.

He has been admitted to practice in all state and federal courts in Delaware, the United States Treasury Department and the Tax Court of the United States. He is a member of the Delaware State, New Castle and American Bar Associations.

He is a member of the law firm of Hering, Morris, James & Hitchens, Delaware Trust Building, Wilmington. He is a member of Kiwanis, the Whist Glub, a past president of the Torch Club, and a past president of the Wilmington Community Concert Association.

He is a member of the Dickinson chapter of Phi Kappa Psi fraternity.

He married Miss Madalin Wintrup of Wilmington, and they have three children.

Another Dickinsonian Goes to Congress

FOLLOWING in the footsteps of his father, who served in the U. S. Senate, William J. Crow, 25L, of Uniontown, Pa., will go to Washington in January to take his seat in Congress to which he was elected in November in the 23rd Pennsylvania District.

Wearing the eagles of a colonel, he was discharged from the Army in January after four years and seven months service, of which he spent 41 months overseas. Prior to the outbreak of war, he had a fine career at the bar, serving three years as assistant district attorney from 1928 to 1931. He was elected mayor of the city of Uniontown for a two-year unexpired term in 1938, and in 1940 was reelected for a four-year term, which was interrupted when he was called to Army service as a major in the Ordnance Department in June 1941.

When he graduated from Pennsylvania Military College with the C.E. degree in 1922, he received his commission as a second lieutenant in the Reserve Corps, and was promoted to major in 1940. Entering the service, he was assigned to the II Army Corps, 28th Infantry Division, Ordnance Section, Hawiian Department. He later served with the 25th Infantry Division, and Ordnance Section in the Pacific Ocean Area as Executive Officer to the Ordnance Officer on General Richardson's staff. He was awarded the Bronze Star for meritorious service in Ordnance overseas.

He was separated from service January 16, 1946, and holds a commission as a Colonel, Ordnance Reserve.

Born at Uniontown on January 22, 1902, he is the son of the late Senator and Mrs. William E. Crow. He graduated from the Uniontown grade and high schools and from P.M.C. when he entered the Dickinson School of Law. He graduated from the law school with the LL.B. degree in 1925 and began the practice of law in Uniontown the



WILLIAM J. CROW

following year. While at the law school, he became a member of Phi Kappa Psi.

He was married October 5, 1923, to Miss Charlotte E. Sheafer, daughter of John T. and Mary A. Sheafer, of Carlisle, They have two sons, Robert Hustead, who will enter the college in February 1947, and Richard S., now a senior in the Uniontown High School, who will enter the college next September.

Receives Doctorate

The Rev. William Vernon Middleton, '28, received the degree of doctor of philosophy at the Founders' Day Convocation of Drew University on October 17. Dr. Middleton is in the section of church extension of the Board of Missions of the Methodist Church in Philadelphia.

He received his B.D. from Drew in 1931, an M.A. from New York University in 1932, and also from Mansfield College, Oxford, in 1934. The thesis for his Ph.D. degree was entitled "Marxist Criticism in Twentieth Century America Judged by Humanistic Standards."

Three Fraternities Buy Chapter Houses

THREE Dickinson fraternities have acquired new houses this fall. Alpha Chi Rho purchased the former residence of Mrs. Abram Bosler at the corner of High and College streets; Phi Epsilon Pi moved to the old Alpha Chi Rho house; and Sigma Alpha Epsilon, which was revived after several years of inactivity, bought a house at the corner of College and South streets, opposite the School of Law.

The Alpha Chi Rho's bought their new house one of the largest and handsomest buildings near the main campus, from the Chi Omega national sorority, which purchased the property last spring, reportedly for use as a national head-quarters. When the Chi Omega plans changed and the house was put on the market again, Alpha Chi Rho, which was looking for a larger house, purchased it. The fraternity occupied the house last month.

Phi Epsilon Pi from 1932 to 1943, when the Army training program required the use of East College, had had rooms in one of the sections of East College. East College is now a women's dormitory. The fraternity accordingly purchased the Alpha Chi Rho property on North College Street across from the main campus. Repairs and remodelling were undertaken at once and have delayed occupancy.

Judge J. Paul Rupp, '16L, of Steelton, was elected president of a newly-formed alumni association of the Dickinson chapter of S. A. E. The association immediately purchased the 15-room house at the southwest corner of College and South Streets as a chapter house. Other officers of the alumni group are William M. Young, '21, Harrisburg, vice-president, Vance L. Smith, '37, Harrisburg, secretary, and Clarence B. Hendrickson, Jr., '38, Carlisle, treasurer.

With the purchase of these houses all the Dickinson fraternities are provided with houses and all are nearly back on a pre-war footing. Commons Club, organization of unaffiliated men, has not yet been revived.

Philadelphia Club Opens Dinner Season

W 1TH 96 present, the Dickinson Club of Philadelphia held the first of the alumni club dinner meetings in the current season at the Robert Morris Hotel on October 31. It also marked the first appearance of President William W. Edel before an alumni club, and he was

the principal speaker.

In two minute speeches representatives of various groups tendered greetings to President Edel, following introductions by the Rev. Dr. Alexander K. Smith, '23, retiring president of the club, who acted as toastmaster. James L. Baxter, '17L, opened the series in behalf of the legal profession and was followed by Dr. Roy W. Mohler, '17, for medicine; Bishop Ernest G. Richardson, '96, for the ministry; Robert L. Ganoe, '16, for business, and Albert M. Bean, '10, for education. Dr. Edgar R. Miller, '20, president of

the Dickinson Club of Delaware, conveyed the greetings of that organization. Dr. William V. Middleton, '28, offered the invocation.

Other speakers were Paul L. Hutchinson, '18, president of the General Alumni Association, Dean W. H. Hitchler, and Gilbert Malcolm, '15, '17L.

Murray H. Spahr, '12, was elected president of the club, succeeding Dr. Smith, and Albert H. Allison, '16, and Mrs. William V. Middleton, '30, were named vice-presidents. Dr. William C. Sampson, '02, was again reelected secretary-treasurer.

Opening the meeting, Dr. Smith read messages of greeting from Boyd Lee Spahr, Esq., Bishop Fred P. Corson, '17, and Justice Charles Alvin Jones, '10L, who were prevented from attending the dinner.

Return Two Dickinsonians to Congress



ROBERT F. RICH



T. MILLET HAND

Two Dickinsonians were reelected to Congress while one was defeated at the polls in November.

Robert F. Rich, '07, of Woolrich, member of the Board of Trustees and veteran in the halls of Congress, was reelected, as was T. Millet Hand, '22L, of the 2nd New Jersey District.

Though he waged a vigorous campaign, Daniel J. Flood, '29L, of Wilkes-Barre, was a victim of the Republican landslide in Pennsylvania and went down to defeat when seeking reelection as a candidate on the Democratic ticket.

Announce Swimming Schedule

For the first time since the war a swimming team will engage in intercollegiate competition. The swimmers are being coached by John S. Steckbeck, instructor in the department of physical education.

The schedule will comprise six meets. The final one on March 1 will be between Gettysburg, F. & M., and Dickinson in the Alumni Gymnasium.

The season will open on January 8 at Lehigh, and on January 18 there will be a meet with F. & M. in Lancaster. Then will follow two engagements at home on January 25 with Drexel, and or February 15 with Shippensburg State Teachers College. On Washington's Birthday there will be a meet with Gettysburg in the Dickinson pool,

Heads Fund Drive

Rev. Dr. John M. Pearson, '18, pastor of Washington Square Methodist Church, New York City, resigned his pastorate on November 1 to accept appointment as director of a campaign to raise \$450,000 for the pension fund for retired ministers of the New York Area of the Methodist Church.

The existing pension fund amounts to \$500,000. Pastors may retire at 65 and must retire at 70 years of age. At present they receive \$19 a year for each year they have preached. The plan is to raise this amount to \$25. The average preaching life is 40 years.

Dr. Pearson will have his campaign headquarters in the Methodist Building, 150 Fifth Avenue, New York. The campaign is expected to last three years.

In Pennsylvania Legislature



DAVID D. REESE

Two Dickinsonians were reelected to the Pennsylvania Legislature in the November elections, and another was named for his first term.

Joseph A. Dague, '35, attorney of Clearfield, was elected for his first term.

Those reelected are David D. Reese, '32L, of Harrisburg, who is one of the Dauphin County representatives, and Francis Worley, '41L, of York Springs, from Adams County.

Accepts Permanent Commissison

Henry J. Sommer, '26, '28L, accepted a commission in the Judge Advocate General's Department of the regular Army last July, and has been on duty in the office of the Under-Secretary, War Department, Washington, D. C., since his return from Europe last fall. He served for three and a half years as division judge-advocate of the 28th Infantry Division during the training of the unit in this country and in England and through all of its service in the European theatre.

Before entering the service he practiced law in Selinsgrove, and served a term as district attorney of Susquehanna County.

Set Dinner Dates

Two of the alumni clubs have set their dates for dinners in 1947, while others are making definite plans for these occasions.

The Dickinson Club of New York will hold its annual dinner in the Midston House, 22 E. 38th St., New York City, on February 14, which is Valentine Day. Those in charge of the New York dinner are Mervin G. Eppley, '17, president of the club; Dr. Irving A. Marsland, '14, vice president; Henry Logan, '10, secretary-treasurer; J. Cameron Frendlich, '13, Paul Walker, '21, Clayton C. Going, '37, executive committee; and Arthur J. Latham, '10.

The Dickinson Club of Delaware will hold its dinner meeting on Friday, April 11, in the DuPont Hotel. Dr. Edgar R Miller, '20, is president of the club and is making the arrangements.

There is a possibility that the dinner of the Dickinson Club of Trenton will be held on February 13, the night preceding the dinner of the Dickinson Club of New York. The Dickinson Club of Washington has tentatively set Monday, April 14, for its dinner date.

Teach in Veterans College

Five members of the College faculty have been appointed to the staff of the Harrisburg Area College Center, one of the emergency colleges established by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to provide college work for veterans unable to attend regular four-year colleges.

Professors Frank Ayres, Jr., Horace E. Rogers, '24, Elmer C. Herber, and Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., '35, are heads of the departments of mathematics, chemistry, biology, and history respectively; while Professor A. Park Orth of the economics department is teaching economic history in the Harrisburg institution.

Classes are held in one of the Harrisburg high schools from 3:30 p.m. to 10 p.m. All the instructors are on a part-time basis and meet classes twice a week.

18 New Lifers Raise Total to 642

E IGHTEEN new subscriptions for life membership in the General Alumni Association have been received since the publication of the September number of THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS to raise the number of Lifers from 624 to 642.

All payments received for life membership are deposited in the Lemuel Towers Appold Life Membership Fund, which is now a part of the permanent endowment of the college. The income is paid to the treasurer of the General Alumni Association and is used for the publication of the magazine and other alumni activities.

Through the years payments for life membership have come in various ways, but perhaps the most unusual one in the history of the fund happened in October. Toshihiko Hamada of the Class of 1921 sent a payment of \$40 for life membership through an American officer in Tokyo in a letter addressed to the late Dr. Prettyman. Since the fall of Japan, Hamada has been serving with the American occupational forces.

The first subscription of the series came from Paul Shaffer, '41, of York, who is now attending the Dickinson School of Law.

On the same day two members of the Class of 1930 became Lifers. They are Dr. Edward S. Kronenberg, Jr., Carlisle physician, who is college physician to women, and Ada O. Kapp of Steelton.

The next subscription came from Leon M. Robinson, '39, recently returned from the service, who is now practicing law in Trenton, N. J.

Three subscriptions were received on October 18. These came from Lewis P. Wingert, '98, an orchardist of Hagerstown, Md., and the others from two former coeds, Mrs. Louise Sumwalt Richards, '24, of Danville, Ill., and Mrs. Mary Louise Kirkpatrick Breene, '40, of Oil City.

When he sent in his check for \$40, Elbert V. Brown of Carlisle became the third member of the Class of 1900 to be a Lifer.

The next subscription was received from John W. Sinner, '38, of Towson, Md.

On October 25 Dr. F. LaMont Henninger, '24, now executive pastor of the Asbury-First Methodist Church of Rochester, N. Y., become a Lifer.

Two subscriptions were received on October 29. The one was from Mrs. Margaret Rickenbaugh Kitchen, '38, of Pocono Lake, Pa., and the other, from Henry E. Harner, '29, Harrisburg attorney, whose check was mailed while he was recovering from an appendectomy.

The next subscription came from Samuel Lichtenfeld, '28, who is now practicing law in York, where he resides at 136 N. Rockburn St.

The first subscription in November came from Dr. Alpheus T. Mason, '20, professor of politics at Princeton University and prominent author whose latest book is reviewed in this number of the magazine.

Dr. Harold W. Weigel, '30, professor of German at the College, became a Lifer on Homecoming Day.

The last subscription in November came from J. Milton Davidson, '33, of Pitman, N. J.

The first subscription in December came from Howard M. Wert, '28, a member of the faculty of the Cranbrook School, Bloomfield Hills, Mich.

Life membership costs \$40, and may be paid in full or in installments of \$10 or \$20. Subscriptions should be sent to the DICKINSON ALUMNUS, West College, Carlisle, Pa. Payment on life membership ends the payment of annual dues, and carries with it a life subscription to the DICKINSON ALUMNUS. A subscription to life membership is not an Alumni Fund contribution.

Add Nine to Faculty Bringing Total to 58



CHARLES D. KEPNER, JR.

NINE new instructors have been added to the College faculty since the publication of the last issue of the ALUMNUS to bring the total number of faculty members to 58. Of these 25 have been added since the close of the college year in June.

Two of the new appointments are in modern languages, four in sociology and political science, and one each in biology, chemistry, and psychology. Two have the rank of associate professor; six are instructors; and one is a graduate assistant.

Dr. Charles D. Kepner, Jr. is associate professor of sociology and Dr. Friedrich Sandels is associate professor of modern languages.

For the past ten years Dr. Kepner has been professor of sociology at Schauffler College and lecturer in sociology in Western Reserve University in Cleveland. A graduate of Williams College in 1916, he received his master's degree from Harvard in the following year and did graduate work at the University of Chicago and Columbia University, from which he received his doctorate. Dr. Kepner has an S.T.B. degree from Andover Theological Seminary and is an



FRIEDRICH SANDELS



WALTER H. NIEHOFF

ordained minister of the Congregational Church. He is a member of Phi Beta Kappa, Delta Sigma Rho, and Phi Gamma Delta fraternities. He is the author of several books and articles, including *The Banana Empire*, a study of economic imperialism in Central America. Dr. Kepner is married and has two children.



RICHARD H. WANNER



RICHARD L. BIGELOW

Dr. Sandels was born in Germany where he was educated at the Universities of Griefswald, Berlin, and Giessen, receiving his doctorate from the last-named institution in 1912. Until driven from Germany in 1941, Dr. Sandels taught Spanish, German, and history in German gymnasiums and private schools. From 1941 to 1943 he taught in Havana, Cuba, and in the next two years he was an instructor in the Putney School in Vermont. Dr. Sandels is married.



CHESTER E. JARVIS

Three instructors added to the division of sociology and political science are Walter H. Niehoff, of Lehighton, Richard L. Bigelow, of Carlisle, and Chester Edward Jarvis, who was discharged from the army last month.

Mr. Niehoff was graduated from Lafayette College in 1932 and received his master's degree from Pennsylvania State College four years later. At Penn State he was an instructor in 1935-36. Since 1933 he had been a teacher of social studies in the Lehighton High School. He is a member of Kappa Phi Kappa, Tau Kappa Alpha, and Pi Gamma Mu fraternities. He is married and has two children.

Mr. Bigelow, who will complete his law course at the Dickinson School of Law next month, was named an instructor in political science. He was graduated from Swarthmore College in 1936 and received his master's degree from Pennsylvania State College the next year. Mr. Bigelow was a graduate assistant at Penn State and spent four years in government research for the Pennsylvania State Planning Board and the United States Department of Agriculture. During his three years' service in the Navy he taught at Northwestern University and later served



DAVID I. GLEIM

as commanding officer of a minesweeper.

Mr. Jarvis, who joined the faculty in
November, was graduated from the Uni-

versity of California at Berkeley in 1932 and received his master's degree from the same institution ten years later. In 1941-42 he was a teacher of English and social studies in the Laytonville, Calif., High School He served four years in the army and was discharged as a captain

in the Quartermasters Corps.

Richard H. Wanner, of Lancaster, has been added to the department of psychology and education as an instructor in psychology. He was graduated from Franklin and Marshall College in 1939 and received the degree of master of education from Harvard University in 1940. For the next two years he was psychologist and remedial tutor in the Woods School, Langhorne, and in the following year held a similar position at the Avon School, Avon, Conn. served three years in the army as a clinical psychologist. He is a member of Phi Beta Kappa, Phi Delta Kappa, and Pi Gamma Nu fraternities. He is married and has one child.

Hans B. Engleman has been named instructor in German. Mr. Engleman was graduated from Haverford College in 1937 and received his master's degree



HANS B. ENGLEMAN

from Columbia the next year. He has completed all residence requirements for his doctorate at Columbia. While at Haverford he had an exchange scholarship and spent the year 1935-36 at the University of Berlin.

Mrs. Constance H. Taylor, of Collingswood, N. J., a graduate of Houghton College, was named graduate assistant in biology in September. She is the wife of L. Holland Taylor, who has returned to the College after military service to

complete his course of study.

David I. Gleim began his work as instructor in chemistry at the beginning of the month. For the past 14 years he has been a teacher of chemistry, biology, and physics in the Mechanicsburg High School. He was graduated from Franklin and Marshall College in 1918 and received his doctorate from Columbia two years later. For 14 years he was a research chemist in several laboratories and since 1932 had been teaching at Mechanicsburg.

It is expected that at least six additional instructors will be added to the faculty before September. One of these will be a professor of political science. An instructor in English will be named in February.

Alumni Meet at Dinners in Cleveland and Chicago

THAT several alumni traveled more than 100 miles to be present, was a feature of the dinners of the Dickinson Clubs of Ohio and the Dickinson Club of Chicago, which held dinner meetings on November 20 and 21.

The Ohio Club met at Crosby's on November 20, and the Dickinson Club of Chicago met in the University Club on November 21. President William W. Edel and Gilbert Malcolm attended both dinners.

Had any award been made, the prize for the longest journey would have gone to Walter V. Edwards, '10, and P. E. West, '13, who drove 180 miles from Springfield, O., to be present at Cleveland. The Rev. C. Ross Wilhide, '19, traveled 140 miles from Kenton, O., and Herbert S. Reisler, '16, made a 120-mile train trip from Toledo when planes were grounded. Following the pattern, the Rev. Russel B. Kern, '16, and his wife made a 110-mile trip from Elkhart, Ind., to attend the Chicago dinner.

Dr. Charles D. Kepner, Jr., a new member of the College faculty, also attended the dinner in Cleveland. An unusual feature of that dinner was an impromptu address by "Zeke" West, telling some of his experiences while with General Motors for many years in South America and Spain.

John R. Milburn, '06, patent attorney, was elected president of the Dickinson Club of Ohio. Dr. Clayton C. Perry, '16, and Mrs. Henry W. Lyndall, Jr., '35, were named vice presidents, and the Rev-John W. Flynn, D.D., '09, was elected

secretary-treasurer.

The Rev. Edmund J. Kulp, '93, offered the invocation at the dinner of the Dickinson Club of Chicago held the following night, when there were 28 in attendance. Samuel W. Witwer, Jr., '30, introduced Dr. Pierce Butler, '06, who served as toastmaster. Tentative plans for another dinner meeting of the club to be held some time next spring were made.

The present officers were reelected. They are Mr. Witwer, president; Dr. Butler, vice president; and Mrs. William G. Gray, '27, secretary-treasurer. The following were elected members of the executive committee: John Leeds Clarkson, '11, Lawrence D. Dibble, '28, and William B. L. Drawbaugh, '07.

Present Alumnus' Portrait

A portrait of the Rt. Rev. Samuel A. McCoskry, of the class of 1824, Protestant Episcopal Bishop of Michigan, was presented to the College and unveiled at the Homecoming Chapel on November 16 by President William W. Edel.

Bishop McCoskry was a grandson of President Charles Nisbet, first principal of the College. In pleasant vein President Edel, accepting the portrait, referred to McCoskry as the fruit of one of the earliest campus romances. The elder McCoskry, a prominent Carlisle physician, wooed and won the hand of President Nisbet's daughter.

After graduating from Dickinson, young McCoskry studied law and was admitted to the Cumberland County bar. A few years later he commenced the

study of theology and was ordained a minister in 1833. After three years as rector of St. Paul's, Philadelphia, he went to Michigan, where he served as bishop from 1836 to his retirement in 1878. He died in 1886.

The portrait was the gift of Boyd Lee Spahr, '00, president of the Board of Trustees of the College.

Killed in Reich

Captain Harry Gillespie, '30L, was killed in Germany on November 20, according to War Department notice given his parents, Mr. and Mrs. James P. Gillespie of Olyphant, Pa.

A graduate of St. Patrick's High School, Olyphant, and the University of Scranton, Captain Gillespie entered the Army in June, 1942. He was 40 years

of age.

EDITORIAL

Influence and Memory

RESIDENT EDEL in one of his early public addresses in Carlisle called attention to the fact that, though Dickinson has had in recent years a number of great and beloved teachers, there are tangible memorials to very few of them on the campus. It comes as a shock to realize that within the past ten or 15 years alone a number of members of the faculty have died, been buried, and officially forgotten. The record of their devoted service is written nowhere, not even in the offices and classrooms they occupied so long. Mohler's portrait hangs in his lecture hall, and Doney's is in the English Research Room he loved so well. But where are the portraits of Sellers and McIntire, Morris and Leon Prince, Norcross, and Landis?

It is most true of a college, that it is the lengthened shadow of a man. Dickinson, as all Dickinsonians know, was wrought out of the blood and spirit of a hundred devoted men in the past. We have prided ourselves on our tradition, but neglected it badly. Tradition, like faith, needs to be watered and periodically renewed lest it die and the men who made it be forgotten. More than this, such memorials would serve another and practical purpose. "Whose picture is that?" the freshman is sure to ask; and when he is told, he may be proud to know himself part of the endless procession which has passed through these doors.

President Edel's suggestion is one all alumni will applaud; and perhaps some of them will assist him in deciding to whom and in what form the first such

remembrance should be made.

How Far to the Nearest Alumni Club?

A LUMNI officers have grown accustomed in the last 20 years to striking evidences of the loyalty and affection most Dickinsonians bear for their alma mater. Eager to be with their classmates on any occasion, alumni by their numbers alone make Homecoming, Commencement, and presidential inaugurations a success; while their spirit is of such an order as to overcome the most depressing exhibitions of the contrariness of the Carlisle weather any time.

To these evidences of long standing the Cleveland and Chicago Alumni Clubs have this fall added several more. For each of these affairs was attended by several graduates who travelled by plane, car, and rail up to 180 miles, one way, just to be present. Granted that both were rather special affairs, since President Edel was making his first appearance before each, still this was a

sufficiently remarkable demonstration to warrant comment.

And one would like to learn of these cross-country—trekking alumni what it is they travel to. To eat? They can get a better—or at least a cheaper—meal at home. To hear the President speak? Perhaps the first time, but this isn't the real attraction. To hear the progress report on the College? Let 'em read the Alumnus. To see college fellows of other years? This is more like it. Yet even this is not all, for alumni will come to a club meeting with no prospect at all of seeing anyone they know intimately. They come, we should like to believe and do believe, to renew a portion of their own spirit and to testify, by this act of near-devotion, to the idea the College stands for in their lives.

December 7, 1941-1946

GES AGO and only yesterday a quiet Carlisle Sunday afternoon was shattered by the report over fraternity house radios that war had come at last. None who were at the College in the months that followed Pearl Harbor have forgotten the spirit of those days. They remember the student who, rejected in the draft, joined the merchant marine and went down a few months later on the Murmansk run. They recall with a smile how students took to wearing patches over strong eyes to strengthen the weak and consumed gallons of carrot juice to qualify for pilots' sight tests. And they remember the half-incredulous, half-pleading warning of a classification officer to a student who volunteered for what he wanted: "Listen, bud, you don't have to take the infantry; you've got a choice." And now, five years after that Sunday afternoon, men at the College recall others who didn't "have to take the infantry," but did, and fought, and died.

"They shall not grow old, as we that are left grow old: Age shall not weary them, nor the years condemn. At the going down of the sun and in the morning We will remember them."

The words which Lawrence Binyon wrote for the fallen of another war and nation apply equally to this time and the College's dead. For them some memorial must one day be laid, some tangible thing raised, a visible evidence of the affection and pride we bore and bear them. The time is at hand to consider what sort of memorial it will be. Perhaps scholarships or a professorship in the cause they at their best represented will best represent them. Perhaps only a dignified and graceful plaque in some quiet corner might stand a testimony to those gallant young men. For those here now who knew them will not forget and those who come here after ought often to recall them.

Prefixes in Ancient Erse; or, Why Professors Travel

HIS Christmas recess, for the first time since the war, the hotels of New York, Chicago, and Boston will fairly bulge with professors attending the conventions of their respective guilds. After a hearty Christmas dinner they will hurry off to learned society meetings to renew personal acquaintances, read papers, and exchange thoughts with their colleagues. Dickinson's professors this year will be found in these congresses of teachers and researchers.

Such participation by local members of the faculty was to be expected in any event. What makes it more certain is the College's official interest in these matters. This year the policy has been revived of defraying at least a part of the expenses of members of the faculty who wish to attend such meetings. This is a wise and far-sighted investment.

Alumni will be glad to know that members of the faculty are once again joining their colleagues of other colleges and university in the Christmas quest for learning. Indeed, simply because they spend their years in Carlisle, at a distance from the universities, libraries, and learned societies, the Dickinson faculty must seek and be encouraged to seek the stimulation of other minds in their profession. They must get away from Carlisle occasionally, strike their minds against others', and sharpen their wits by the contact. For every new idea they bring back from their meetings profits their students, for whom the College exists, and keeps Dickinson abreast the newest and best learning.

Football Team Enjoys Best Season in Years

W ITH the best record of any Dickinson football team since the undefeated season in 1937, the 1946 gridiron campaign ended on November 23 with six victories and one defeat at the hands of Washington and Jefferson. Triumphs were scored over Lehigh, Lebanon Valley, Susquehanna, Swarthmore, Western Mary-

land and Allegheny.

Pre-game prognosticators predicted that Dickinson would win only two of seven games played, and they were right in foretelling triumphs over Susquehanna and Allegheny. Entering the other games as the "under-dog," the Dickinson warriors lost only to W. & J. in a game played at Washington, and upset the forecasts in all the other struggles. Four of the regulars could not be used in the W. & J. game, two of them being hurt in an automobile accident on the way to the game while travelling in a private car.

Thus in his first year at Dickinson, Prof. Ralph R. Ricker met his classes in the department of social sciences and coached the football team through the best season in years. Two other newcomers, both instructors in the department of physical education, John S. Steckbeck and Ronald E. Knapp, in charge of the line and backs respectively, proved valuable assistants. Charles H. B. Kennedy, acting head of the department of physical education, and the veteran trainer, R. H. McAndrews, also contributed their parts to the successful season.

With College not scheduled to open for the fall session until October 7 and the Lehigh game booked for October 5, the squad was called to begin practice at Carlisle on September 16. Lehigh had defeated Kings Point 7 to 0 and had lost to a strong Gettysburg team 19 to 14 when the Engineers came to Biddle Field for the season's opener, confident of victory. A thrilling forward pass play upset their hopes and Dickinson won the game 7 to 6.

The stoutness of the Dickinson defen-

1946	Foo	tball Record	
Dickinson	7	Lehigh	6
Dickinson	2	Lebanon Valle	y 0
Dickinson	27	Susquehanna	0
Dickinson	7	W. & J.	19
Dickinson	14	Swarthmore	0
Dickinson	25	W. Maryland	20
Dickinson	33	Allegheny	6
			-
	115		51

sive strength which was apparent throughout the season was revealed in the second game of the season. A Lebanon Valley back was thrown back of his goal line in the opening minutes of play, making the score Dickinson 2, Lebanon Valley 0, and that was the final score. While the "Flying Dutchmen" had a strong, heavy team and outgained the Dickinson eleven throughout, they were unable to score.

Coached by A. A. Stagg, the son of the famous mentor of that name, the team of Susquehanna University was defeated on Biddle Field the following Saturday by the score of 27 to 0. The scores came just when the latent offensive strength of the Dickinson eleven was beginning to function. The last half of that game was played in a downpour of rain.

The next week the team journeyed to Washington, for Homecoming Day at W. & J. and to suffer the season's only defeat, by the score of 19 to 7. Doug Rehor, stellar passer, was injured enroute to the game, suffering a facial wound which required eight stitches, and was unable to don a uniform.

While Swarthmore had dropped games to the strong Wesleyan and Muhlenberg teams, the Garnet defeated F. & M. and scored a 19 to 12 victory over Ursinus the preceding week to enter the Dickinson game the favorite. But the Red and White rebounded from the defeat the week before and in a fine contest scored two touchdowns to defeat Swarthmore 14 to 0.

The Dickinson-Drexel game was on the schedule for the following Saturday but the contest was cancelled when the bus carrying the Dickinson uniforms was sent off by a dispatcher on a trip to Pittsburgh from the Philadelphia ter-

One of the finest and most exciting football games ever played on Biddle Field high-lighted the Homecoming celebration on November 16 when Western Maryland put on the gridiron the strongest and best team played all year, but went down to defeat by the score of 25 to 20. The lead changed seven times during the game, which was full of fine runs, brilliant passing and excellent defensive play.

The closing game of the season with Allegheny on Biddle Field was an anticlimax in which the score could have been anything, but was Dickinson 33, Allegheny 6, as Coach Ricker used his entire squad of 42 men, and employed the

varsity for only short periods.

No Uniforms-No Game

President William W. Edel headed a Dickinson delegation which journeyed to Philadelphia on November 9 to see the football game with Drexel. It was Drexel's Homecoming Day and the alumni of that institution poured out to the stadium. But there was no game, because the Dickinson team were on the scene but without their uniforms.

Newspaper reports of the incident inferred that some Dickinson official had shipped the uniforms in a westerly direction instead of to Philadelphia, but

that isn't the story.

The Dickinson squad left Carlisle in a chartered bus the afternoon before the game and each man placed his duffle bag into the baggage compartment of the bus. Arriving at the Hotel Pennsylvanian, the players alighted with their own overnight bags and the bus was taken to the company's garage. The next morning, the driver went to the garage to get the bus to transport the players to the field, when he discovered the bus was not there.

During the night, a dispatcher needed another bus and, ignoring the sign "Chartered," sent the Dickinson bus, uniforms and all, on a trip to Pittsburgh. By the time the discovery was made the bus was beyond Gettysburg, where it was intercepted and another bus took on the uniforms and tried to make a record trip to Philadelphia. But it did not arrive in time for the game to be played.

Even when it did arrive, it was found that in the excitement near Gettysburg, some one failed to open all the baggage compartments of the Dickinson bus, and twelve duffle bags containing the uniforms of the starting eleven were still missing. They actually turned up at the Alumni Gymnasium in Carlisle on the following Monday.

Members of the legal fraternity can be told, before they start winning the case, that the bus company has reimbursed the Dickinson and Drexel athletic associations.

Andy Kerr Retires

Andrew Kerr, '00, for the past 18 years head coach of football at Colgate University, retired for age at the end of the past grid campaign.

Dean of eastern football coaches and one of football's coaching greats, Kerr ended his years at Colgate with a record of 95 wins, 50 losses, and seven ties for his teams. During his first three years Colgate dropped only one game each year, and his 1932 team was unbeaten,

untied, and unscored upon.

Kerr entered coaching in 1914 after having taught mathematics at Johnstown High School. He became freshman coach at the University of Pittsburgh, going from there to Stanford University, then to Washington and Jefferson College, and finally to Colgate. For 20 years he has been head coach of the Eastern team in the East-West football clash held annually in San Francisco on January 1 for the benefit of the Shriners' Hospital for Crippled Children.

Old Letter Relates Story of Rebel Invasion, 1863

NE of the most interesting accounts of the Confederate invasion of Carlisle that have come to light is now in the Dickinsoniana collection of the College

Library.

It is a letter written by Rev. George Davenport Chenoweth to Professor James W. Marshall, of the class of 1848. Chenoweth was in Carlisle at the time of the occupation of the town and was forced to flee with his family to Lewistown. Marshall, who had been a member of the faculty from 1850 to 1862, had been one year in England as United States consul at Leeds.

The letter speaks of the interruption of the College commencement of that year, which forced the faculty to "hurry the matter through." The graduates all received their diplomas, "though not in the usual way." A small incident related of Mrs. Johnson, wife of the president of the College, reveals her as a woman of spirit. When her servants ran off out of fear of the invading rebels, she made the Confederate officers' servants cook for the Johnson family.

Mr. Chenoweth was elected a trustee of the College three years later. He was the father of two Dickinsonians, both mentioned in the letter, who were graduated in 1868, George Durbin and Alexander Crawford Chenoweth. Professor Marshall served as first assistant postmaster general of the United States from 1869 to 1874, under his classmate, John A. J. Creswell. He succeeded Creswell

as postmaster general in 1874.

The text of the letter is as follows:

Lewistown, Pa., July 15th, 1863.

Prof. Marshal U. S. C.

Dear Sir:

Your last was duly recd. I write from Lewistown as myself & family have been boarding here at pleas't hotel for some three weeks. We were driven out of Carlisle by the rebels. We left on Thursday night at 7 Oc[lock], the last train that left the place before the rebels entered. We gathered up our trunks only, left every thing also; & when I returned I found all perfectly safe just as we left it. for which we are thankful.

The rebels entered Carlisle in strong force, twelve thousand, on Saturday evening Officers put their tents near the door of Dr. Johnson & the campus fitted with men's tents. Officers sent in to Mrs. Johnson for their supper, who sent it to them. Next morning they sent for breakfast, but she declined. They then used the outer cooking stove & as her servants had run off she made their servants cook for her.

They placed a strict guard around their men, to prevent disaster & to keep them from plundering. But early on Sat morning, they detailed officers & men to plunder & they were thieving all day on Sat., flour, groceries, & drygoods, shoes, etc. While Mr. Holbert was dying in one end of his house they were robbing him at the other. Robt. Moore had a few army shoes hid, some rebel sympathizer told them of the fact & they searched his house, then took him prisoner & forced a confession from him where the shoes were & took them. They had no respect to private property if it suited them.

They received information on Monday morning that the army of the Potomac had made an attack near Gettysburg, they left speedily. Then some four thousand militia from Harrisburg marched into Carlisle, on Tuesday evening at 6 Ocflock] in the evening, just as they stacked their arms in the public square, the rebel cavalry having returned & planted their cannon in the road near Mr Culvers, commenced shelling the town. This was their flying artillery after throwing a few shells they sent in a flag of truce to General Smith to surrender the town, he refused: Judge Graham tried to get him to surrender.

They commenced the battle & shelled the town until three Ocflock in the morning when they left. They burned the Barracks & Gass house. One shell struck Dr. [?] House in front but did very little injury. One exploded in Dr.

Johnson's lecture room doing very little damage, he was standing just out side in the hall, the family then went to the cellar & spent the night, where most of the inhabitants took refuge. It was an awful night.

Robt Moore & family gathered up a few bundles & left in the night during the shelling & went into the country as far as Bitners. Numbers did this. I was very glad that I was so fortunate as to take my family out at the time I did, as they were quiet & safe in Lewistown.

The four children have all had the hooping cough. The youngest was quite ill, but all are now recovering & about in their usual health. Fanny & Mrs. Crawford are well.

The rebels did not give us quite time to get through with the commencement, by hurrying the matter we got through dispensing with a part of the exercises. The graduating class received their diplomas though not in the usual way. Only eight Trustees present, no quorum, & no meeting of the board. They will have one soon & College will open as usual in Sept. Durbin & Alexander are in the freshman Class. The financial committee did the business. The college is doing well all things considered.

Our Army gained a complete victory over Lee at Gettysburg. The rebel loss in killed wounded & prisoners from twenty to thirty thousand. News has just arrived that the rebel Army have escaped across the Potomac at Williamsport, we expected to catch them then & have another battle, but they run too fast. Vicksburg has fallen with 20,000 prisoners & small arms provisions, & over one hundred heavy guns. Port Hudson will go next. Then the Missippi will be open. Our prospects were never so bright as now for crushing the rebellion. A fearful riot in Newyork the copperheads resisting the draft. That will all be [?] for good I hope. Fanny & Mrs. Crawford join in much love to self & family. Tell Mrs. Marshall she owes us a letter.

Yours very truly
G. D. Chenoweth.

Bow and Arrow to Rescue!

The Associated Press under a dateline of November 19 sent out the following story about Paul C. BeHanna, '27, attorney of Highland Park, Ill., and his wife, the former Elsie B. Burkhard, also of the class of 1927:

"Attorney Paul C. BeHanna and his wife came home from the movies and found a 200-pound soldier sitting at their kitchen table and waving a gun.

"'Go upstairs, and mind your own business," said the intruder, who was nibbling at some left-over carrots and sausage.

"The BeHannas complied, and found their two children and the maid were safe. But the telephone was downstairs.

"BeHanna's son John, 13, got his toy bow and arrow and gave them to his father. BeHanna shot an arrow 25 feet through a window of a neighbor's home. When there was no response, he shot again and broke another pane.

"This time the neighbor responded and called police. Local and military police from nearby Fort Sheridan rescued the marooned BeHannas and took the soldier and his empty pistol into custody."

Buchanan's Cane Given

A cane once owned and carried by President James Buchanan, who graduated from the College in 1809 and was president of the United States from 1857 to 1861, has been presented to the College by J. Wilmer Fisher, Esq., '96L, of Reading.

President Edel first publicly announced the gift at the luncheon tendered guests of the College on the day of his inauguration. He declared he thought of it in terms of the support he hoped he would receive from faculty, alumni, and students in his administration of the College.

The cane is a heavy implement, with an ivory head, and appears far more useful than graceful.

PERSONALS

1892

Paul E. Haines, husband of Mrs. Ida Sellers Haines, died at his home in Bay City, Mich., on September 27 after a long period of illness. In addition to his widow he is survived by a daughter, Miss Pauline Haines.

1896

Harry L. Price, Baltimore attorney and member of the Board of Trustees of the College, resigned last month as president of the board of the Maryland General Hospital and is now president emeritus. At the same meeting Charles C. Duke and Lewis M. Bacon, Jr., '02, also trustees of the College, were reelected to the board.

1900

J. Milnor Dorey, former member of the English department of the Williamsport High School, who taught at the College during the summer session, has been appointed teacher of English and speech and assistant dean of men at East Stroudsburg State Teachers College.

Dr. Francis R. Bayley is field representative of the Asbury Methodist Home for the Aged in Gaithersburg, Md.

1902

Dr. Clark D. Lamberton represented Western Reserve University at the inauguration of Dr. William W. Edel as president of Dickinson College on October 26.

1903

Mr. and Mrs. Fred E. Malick visited the College on Homecoming on their way home from a six weeks' motor trip to Mexico City.

1905

Rev. James Edwin Dunning, D. D., associate pastor of the First Methodist Church, Los Angeles, is listed in the new edition of "Who's Who in America."

1907

Rev. William A. Crozier of the faculty of Tusculum College, Greenville, Tenn., represented Dickinson at the inauguration of Dr. George K. Davies as president of Tusculum on October 19.

1908

Dr. Lewis H. Chrisman, of the English Department of West Virginia Wesleyan College, represented Dickinson at the inauguration of Dr. William John Scarborough as president of West Virginia Wesleyan on November 16.

Dr. John Shilling of the Department of Public Instruction of Delaware represented Dickinson at the inauguration of Dr. William Samuel Carlson as president of the University of Delaware on October 26.

Foster C. Ansley was the third member of the class in recent weeks to represent his alma mater at an official college exercise. He was Dickinson's delegate to the 50th anniversary convocation of the State College tor Women, Alabama College, Montevallo, Ala., on October 14.

1909L

John D. Faller, attorney of Carlisle, underwent an emergency appendectomy in November in the Harrisburg Hospital. His brother, Dr. Con Faller, prominent surgeon, performed the operation.

1910

The Rev. Dr. J. Edgar Washabaugh was the speaker at a homecoming celebration on October 6 held at the Rehoboth Methodist Church, located on the Walnut Bottom road near Leesburg. While a student of the College Dr. Washabaugh served as the pastor of that church. He is now manager of the Methodist Publishing House and the Methodist Book Concern in New York City.

Clarence M. Shepherd was recently initiated into Phi Delta Kappa, national professional education fraternity, by the Beta Epsilon chapter, University of Maryland. He is instructor in science in the Wilson Vocational School, Baltimore, Md.

Walter V. Edwards, general secretary of the Springfield, O., Y. M. C. A., represented Dickinson College at the inauguration of Dr. Harold Yochum as president of Capital University in Ohio on October 24.

1912

Colonel Newton W. Speece has been retired from the Army, and is now living at 2110 W. 49th St., Minneapolis, 10, Minn.

1914

Rev. Charles C. Cole, following his discharge from the Army Chaplains Corps, is serving at the Fordham Methodist Church, 2543 Marion Ave., New York, 58, New York.

1916

Robert L. Ganoe has resigned his position with the Atlas Powder Company, and is now

employed in Philadelphia, selling industrial pipe cleaners. His address is 505 East Gorgas Lane, Mount Airy, Philadelphia 19, Pa.

Mrs. Amelia W. Blumenfeld of Starkville, Miss., represented Dickinson College at the inauguration of Dr. John Davis Williams as chancellor of the University of Mississippi on October 25.

1918

Rev. Howard R. Breisch of Bloomfield, N. J., represented Dickinson College at the inauguration of Frederick Schweitzer as president of Bloomfield College and Seminary on November 25.

1919

Robert E. Minnich is now in the Guidance Bureau of the New York State Department of Education, and has supervision over attendance for the eastern half of New York state. He is living at 118 Manor Avenue, Cohoes, N. Y.

Rev. George E. Johnson is pastor of the Stevens Memorial Methodist Church in Harrisburg.

1920

Da'e H. Learn was an unsuccessful candidate for United States Senator from Pennsylvania. He ran on the ticket of the Prohibition Party.

Bernard Forcey, for the last 12 years teacher of history and law in Lower Merion Senior High School, Ardmore, Pa., has accepted a position as educational consultant for the new Compton Service. Before going to Lower Merion Forcey was principal of the Lansford High School.

1921

D. I. Fenton Daugherty, dean of men of the University of Delaware, represented his institution at the inauguration of President Edel at Dickinson on the same day that the University of Delaware was inaugurating a new president of its own at Newark.

Professor Mary R. Learned, of the romance languages department of Wells College, Aurora, N. Y., represented Dickinson at the inauguration of Dr. Richard L. Greene as president of Wells College on November 1.

Mrs. Alfred M. Chapman of Washington Crossing was elected chairman of the executive board of the national Women's Auxiliary of the Episcopal Church in September. Before making her home in Washington Crossing she was associated with St. Thomas Church, New York, and is now a communicant of St. Andrew's, Yardley.

1921L

Adrian W. Phillips is manager of the Hotel Morton, Atlantic City, N. J.

1922

Dr. Harry D. Kruse of the Milbank Memorial Fund, New York, is one of eight scientists appointed to the advisory committee of the National Vitamin Foundation, Inc.

1924

Dr. John D. Yeagley is doing postgraduate work at the Bowman Gray Medical School, Winston-Salem, N. C., after his discharge from the Army last April. While in the service he made twelve trips to Latin America.

1927

Ann Elizabeth, daughter of William R. and Ann Coover Thompson, of Waynesburg, Pa., entered college as a freshman in October. Her father served in the Army as a colonel during the war.

1928

Mr. John F. Stevens, the husband of Marion Foberg, has received an assignment with the U. S. Aircraft Corporation in Rio de Janeiro. Mrs. Stevens flew to join him in November, and the couple will live at the Capacabana Palace Hotel there for about a year.

Miss Helen L. McDonald, who had been a member of the faculty of the Carlisle High School since her graduation from the College, joined the faculty of the Edinboro State Teachers College in September as an instructor in English.

James G. Haggerty, principal of the Mechanicsburg High School, delivered an address, "Guidance in a School of Eight Hundred," at the fall meeting of the Central Pennsylvania branch of the National Guidance Association held at Bucknell University in November.

Dr. Raymond M. Bell, professor and head of the department of physics at Washington and Jefferson College, represented Dickinson at the inauguration of Dr. James Herbert Case as president of Washington and Jefferson on October 25.

1929

Major Walter D. McCahan is stationed at Hq., 1st Army, N. Y.-N. J.-Del.-Md. Dist., 90 Church St., New York.

William G. Green has returned from overseas and is now program secretary of the Boston Army & Navy Y. M. C. A., 32 City Square, Charlestown, Mass.

Dr. E. Blaine Hays has been notified of his promotion from major to lieutenant colonel in the Officers Reserve Corps. He was discharged last spring with the rank of major after 46 months' service in the Medical Corps.

Rev. James A. Simons, pastor of the First

Methodist Church, Shenandoah, and former president of the Shenandoah Rotary Club, is serving as district governor of Rotary International this year.

1931

Mr. and Mrs. Ewing Julstedt, of Bala-Cynwyd, have announced the birth of a daughter, Penelope, on August 22. Mrs. Julstedt is the former Katherine Armstrong.

Two members of the class were official delegates at the inauguration of Dr. Paul Moyer Limbert as president of Springfield College. Dr. Howard L. Rubendall, headmaster of Mt. Hermon School, represented his institution, while Rev. Dr. Robert Killam, minister of the Church of the Unity, Springfield, Mass., represented the St. Lawrence University.

1932

Albert Houck has been discharged from the Army and is now living at 141 W. 4th St., Lewistown.

1933

Roy R. Kuebler, Jr., of the College Faculty. has received his commission as a major in the Officers Reserve Corps.

Mr. and Mrs. David E. Weimer of Carlisle have announced the birth of a son, Robert Edward, on November 22. Mrs. Weimer is the former Emma Fry.

Dr. Stanley H. Rynk, who was in the Army during the war and who formerly practiced dentistry in Kingston, has announced the opening of offices at 29 W. Pomfret St., Carlisle.

1934

Richard R. Wolfrom, who served as a first lieutenant in the Judge Advocate General's Department of the Army, has resumed the general practice of law, with offices in the First National Bank Building, Shippensburg, Penna.

John B. Fowler, Jr. has become a general partner of Cohn & Torrey, members of the New York Stock Exchange. For some time he has been associated with W. J. Banigan & Co. which recently merged with the other

Mr. and Mrs. J. Howard Miller, of Moorestown, N. J., have announced the birth of a daughter, Ruth Reece Miller, on October 5. Mrs. Miller is the former Ruth Sharp.

Philip S. VanHook has been made head of the English department at Bergen Junior College, Teaneck, N. J.

Sgt. Major Frank H. Wagner, Jr. is now in TienTsin, China, where he is serving in the division legal office of the U.S. Marine Corps,

Missing Addresses

Mail addressed to the following alumni at last known addresses has been returned. Any one knowing the correct address of any graduate listed is requested to send the information to The Dickinson Alumnus, Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa.

1873-Wilbur Fiske Spottswood

1895-Lulu F. Allabach, Nomer Gray

1896-Judson T. Strickler

1897—Jacob L. Diehl 1900-James H. Hall

1901-Rev. Charles H. Kershaw

1902-Mrs. James C. Houser (Charlotte Short)

1904-Arthur B. Fancher, Esq. Benjamin A. Garrett

1905-James H. Opie

1906—Georgia M. Cranston Mrs. H. T. Wright (Estella Mary Smith)

1907-J. D. Alcock John Craig King

1908-Miss Ruth A. Leaman

1909-Joshua C. Tindall

1910—Henry W. Storey 1913—Harry T. Alling Anna I. Fisher

1914-Joseph M. Hewitt Walter B. Numbers

1915-Mrs. Edward F. Jones, Jr. (Margaret R. Day)

1922-Walter C. Merkel Mrs. James Swank, M. D. (Helen C. Strayer)

1923-V. N. Johnston Howard H. McClure Miss Della Reupsch

1924-William H. Houseman Arthur L. Kinkead Mrs. Noah Thompson (Dorothy A. Davis)

1925-Frank G. Carter, Jr. * 1926-Russel Marks

Garvin R. Peffer Charles D. Rickabaugh

1927-Matthews Dougherty Samuel Ressetar

1928—Charles E. Smith Alfred D. Mihachik, M. D. G. Worthington Post

1929-Paul B. Moyer David M. Zall

1930-Louis C. Olmsted Mrs. John F. Schwartz (Arlene Isabel Reed)

1931-George W. Adams Allen F. Morton

1932-Robert L. Kerridge Aaron Schermer

1933—George E. Irwin Hilbert Slosberg

1934-Joseph H. Waddell, Jr.

1935-Joseph Chevitski

Raymond E. Kaufman, Jr.
Albert E. Smigel

1936—William I. Brassington
George J. Weisbaum

1937-Mrs. Ernest T. G. Coleman (Betty Crane)
Daniel A. Radbill
Mrs. Louis Stine
(S. Louise Mumper)
1938—Robert A. Burns
Albert R. Lewis

Charles S. Rasner Dr. Arthur B. Shaul, Jr. Raymond J. Shore

1939-Alfred Romain

1940—E. Gordon Alderfer Harvey W. Mather, Jr. 1941—William B. Kerfoot 1942—Sanford E. Bernatowicz Dr. Robert I. Forman Donald H. Morse

1935

Wayland A. Lucas, '38L, has returned from his service in the Navy and is again practicing law with offices in the Mecum Building, Salem, N. J.

Dr. and Mrs. Candler Lazenby of Lehigh University announced the birth of a son, Joseph Marion, in August 3. Mrs. Lazenby is the former Ruth Shawfield. Dr. Lazenby is associate professor of German at Lehigh University.

Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert M. Keller of Schenectady, N. Y., have announced the birth of a daughter, Nancy Johanna, on May 27. Mrs.

Keller is the former Harriet Matter.

William Truman Gordon of Coatesville was married to Miss Barbara Roth, daughter of Mr. and Mis. Paul K. Roth, of Brightwaters, N. Y., in St. Luke's Lutheran Church, Bay Shore, L. I., on October 6. The bride was graduated from Skidmore College in 1944.

1936

Mr. and Mrs. Paul White of Livingston, N. J., announced the birth of a daughter, Sharon Louise, on October 12. Mrs. White is the former June Bietsch.
Following his discharge from the Army,

William Ackerman has opened an office for the practice of law in Charleston, S. C.

Charlotte B. Chadwick, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. George I. Chadwick of Carlisle, was married to Robert Stuart MacKellar on October 12 in the Holy Trinity Church, Manas-Ohio State University and is a portrait and landscape artist. He is a member of S.A.E. and Phi Eta Sigma fraternities. The bride is head of the radio department of the R. T. O'Connell Advertising Agency in New

York City, and was formerly a teacher in the Carlisle High School.

Dr. and Mrs. James S. D. Eisenhour, Jr. of Wildwood, N. J., announced the birth of a son, James S. D. Eisenhour, III, on June

Dorothy V. Reeve, attorney-at-law, is serving during the current year as adjutant for the George P. Vanderveer Post, No. 129, American Legion, and State chairman for the Economic and Legal Status of Women of the New Jersey division of the American

Association of University Women.

John H. James has been transferred from New York to Ireland where he is a Dispatcher for American Overseas Airlines at the Shannon Airport. His wife and son are joining him there, and will make their home in Limerick. During the war John was assigned to American Overseas Airlines by the Navy, and served as Station Manager at Belem, Brazil, and later as Chief Operations

Officer at Bathurst, British Gambia, Africa.
In October, Philip F. Detweiler became manager of the Norfolk, Va., claim division of the New Amsterdam Casualty Co., with headquarters at 612 Wainwright Bldg., Norfolk, 10 W

folk, 10, Va.

John A. Novack is studying at the graduate school of the University of Pennsylvania this year.

1937

Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Bookbinder of Kinsman Road, Florence, N. J., have announced the birth of a son, Richard Stewart Bookbinder, on November 18.

Mr. and Mrs. Al B. Wester, Jr. of Woodbury, N. J., have announced the birth of a daughter, Barbara Ann, on November 26. Mrs. Wester is the former Olive Fitzgerald.

Mrs. Clarence J. Carver has announced the engagement of her daughter Grace to Irvin H. Kline, of Skippack. Miss Carver is now a sixth grade teacher in the Worcester Consolidated School. Mr. Kline was recently discharged from the army after four and a half years' service.

1938

Virginia Lee Bryan was married April 2, to Henry E. Hagen at Fort Lauderdale, Fla. Mr. Hagen is connected with the General Mills Company, Princeton, N. J. Mrs. Hagen's new address is Highway No. 1, at Alexander Road, Princeton, N. J.

Helen Louise Heim is a member of the first-year class of the Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia. This college is the only one in the United States devoted solely to the training of women in

Jean Poffenberger returned in March after 32 months in North Africa and Italy with the Red Cross. After a four months' leave of absence she has returned to overseas service, and is now with the Greenland Base Command at BW-1, where she acts as staff assistant in recreation and edits the Base

newspaper.

Announcement has been made of the engagement of Donald E. Austin to Miss Dorothy Humphrey, daughter of Dr. and Mrs. Joseph M. Humphrey of Binghamton, N. Y. The wedding is planned for the spring. Miss Humphrey graduated from Syracuse University and received an M. A. from Columbia University where she is now in the Advanced School of Education. Mr. Austin is now a student at the Columbia University School of Law.

Announcement has been made of the engagement of Frederich J. Stichweh to Miss Majorie Phyllis Meaers, daughter of Mrs. Agnes Meares of Jamaica, N. Y. Miss Meares attended Hunter College and the Feagin School of Dramatic Art. She is associate editor of the Chase National Bank magazine.

1939

Leon M. Robinson has formed a partner-ship with J. Charles Popkin for the general practice of law under the firm name of Popkin and Robinson, with offices in the Broad Street Bank Building, Trenton, N. J.

After separation from the WAVES, Alice Eastlake enrolled in the University of Michigan to continue graduate work in embryology. She is also an instructor in zoology at

Wayne University, Detroit, Mich.

Captain and Mrs. John H. McAdoo of Carlisle have announced the birth of a daughter, Helen Louise, on October 27. Mrs. McAdoo is the former Margaret Meals.

Mr. and Mrs. Karl M. Richards of Harrisburg have announced the birth of a daughter, Susan Lynn, on July 5. They have another daughter, Catherine Jane, aged 3.

Dr. Donald P. Bloser was discharged from the Army in June, and is at present a resident physician at the Harrisburg Hos-pital. He expects to enter private practice soon.

Dr. Robert H. Llewellyn sailed from New York during the late summer to spend a year in study and travel abroad on a fellowship from Harvard University. He spent the months of September and October in Iceland, where he was studying the Icelandic sagas, and is now at Oxford University.

Lieutenant George Thomas has reentered the service in the Navy Chaplain Corps and

left in November for Guam.

Louise V. Adams was married on Nov-ember 3 in Allison Methodist Church, Carlisle, to Robert Wilson Michler of Easton. Dr. Harold Adams, '38, brother of the bride, was one of the ushers. The couple now reside in Easton where Mr. Michler is employed in a bank. He served in the Army Medical Corps during the war.

Mr. and Mrs. Charles A. Ginter have announced the marriage of their daughter, Jean Eastment, to Paul Gendell, Jr. in Hartland,

1940

Harry C. Stitt, Jr., following his discharge from the Navy, resumed the practice of law at 39 S. Duke St., York. On September 7 he was married to Miss. William H. Snyder, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. William H. Snyder of Everett. Mrs. Snyder is a graduate of the Thompson Business College in York, and is employed in the Industrial National Bank there.

Irene Yeager was married last May 18 to J. Robert Duncan. Her sister, Peggy. '48, was maid of honor. After a honeymoon in Bermuda, the couple moved into their new home, 1225 North View Road, Baltimore 18,

Md.

Mr. and Mrs. W. Roberts Pedrick have announced the birth of their second child Anne Lynne at Port Jefferson, L. I., N. Y., Hospital on November 11. Pedrick is teaching at the Stoney Brook, L. I., Boys. School.

Mr. and Mrs. William Hertzler announced the birth of a son, Robert Holcomb, on October 20. Mrs. Hertzler is the former Jean

Holcomb.

Pauline Bloser was married to William R. Gibson on September 7 in the Zion Lutheran Church in Enola, Pa. Her brother, Dr. Donald P. Bloser, '39, was an usher. Mr. Gibson, a graduate of West Philadelphia High School and the University of Pennsylvania, is associated with the American Bridge Company in New York City. The couple now reside at 19 Brockfield Road, Upper Montclair, N. J.

Dr. Harry J. Fryer will complete a resident

dency in children's diseases at the Philadelphia General Hospital in September,

1947.

Brooks E. Kleber has resumed his graduate work in history at the University of Pennsylvania. He attended the University a year before entering the army in 1941.

Edwina Bartran James and C. Blair Kerchner were married on October 19 in New

York City.

Rev. and Mrs. William E. Thomas announced the birth of a daughter, Mary Anne Thomas, on November 5.

1941

James M. Alexander is now attending the graduate school of the University of Pennsylvania.

Thomas Horton is employed with the E. L. Patch Company, Stoneham P. O., Boston,

Mass.

I. Neafie Mitchell and Lester L. Greevy of Williamsport, classmates, fraternity brothers, and associates in the U.S. Navy, have been admitted to the practice of law at the Lycoming County bar.

Lt. Morris Foulk, Jr., M. C., is stationed at Landsberg, Germany. His address is 862 E A B, Landsberg, APO 61 c/o Postmaster,

New York.

Mr. and Mrs. William Baker of Carlisle announced the birth of a son, William Cowell, on October 21. Mrs. Baker is the former

Margaret Cowell.

Mr. and Mrs. James Lewis Mallory, of Douglastown, L. I., N. Y., have announced the engagement of their daughter Mary Ely Mallory, to John B. Carroll. Miss Mallory is a graduate of William and Mary College. Carroll is connected with Eastman, Dillon and Company, New York securities firm.

1942

Announcement has been made of the marriage of Dorothy J. Broverman to Captain Frank B. Huntley, son of Mr. and Mrs. W. E. Huntley of McMinnville, Ore. The ceremony took place in the post chapel at Fort Lewis, Wash. Captain Huntley attended Behnke-Walker Business College in Port-land, Ore., and is now director of supplies for the W.D.P.C., Fort Lewis, Wash. On September 14 Nancy Woolf was mar-ried in New York City to Joseph A. White

acre. They are both employed in Philadel-phia, and are living at 4818 Trinity St.,

Philadelphia 43.

Sigismond Stojowski, distinguished Polish pianist and composer, and the father of Henry Stojowski, died at his home in New York on November 6. He is also survived by his widow, who is a noted Peruvian pianist, and two other sons.

Mr. and Mrs. H. William Koch have announced the birth of a son, William Rohrer Koch, on November 12. Mrs. Koch is the former Susan Rohrer. Mr. Koch is now attending the Dickinson School of Law.

Raymond C. Grandon is serving as a first lieutenant in the Army Medical Corps, and at the present time is stationed in Texas.

William F. Remphrey of Buffalo, N. Y., was married to Miss Katherine Vallie Fry, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Floyd H. Fry, New Freedom, Pa., in the Trinity Methodist Church there by the pastor, Rev. William E. Holley, '32. James W. McGuckin, '42 was one of the ushers. The bride is a graduate of New Freedom High School and Thompson's Business College of York, and had been employed by the Montgomery Ward Company in Baltimore. Remphrey returned recently after three years in the Army, of which he spent 29 months in Alaska and the Aleutians. He is employed as a chemist by the National Analine Company, Buffalo, N. Y. The couple now reside at 520 Virginia Street, Buffalo. Sylvester S. Aichele was married to Miss Mary Jane Zimmerman, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John H. Zimmerman of Carlisle on November 15 in the Evangelical Church in Ring-town, Pa. The bride is a graduate of the Carlisle High School, and was formerly em-ployed by the J. C. Penney Co. The groom, who was recently discharged from the Navy Air Corps, is now a student at the University of Pennsylvania.

George F. Myers was married to Miss Virginia Baker Doepke, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ernest A. Doepke, Jr. of New Cumber-land on November 23 in St. Paul's United Brethren Church, Wormlevsburg, Pa. The bride is a graduate of William and Mary College. Thomas H. Barnes, Jr., '42, was best man, and the ushers were Robert Myers Sigler, '38, John H. Sigler, and Harry W. Speidel, Jr., '42. The couple now reside at 12 Wavne Ave., New Cumberland.

Rev. and Mrs. W. W. Spiegelhalder of Lykens have announced the birth of a son, Glenn Rodney, on November 30. Mrs. Speigelhalder is the former Virginia McClellan.

1942L

Announcement has been made of the engagement of C. Paul Reed and Miss Patricia Walworth Trenor of Gloucester, Mass. Mr. Reed, a graduate of Washington and Lee University, served as a lieutenant in the Army Medical Administrative Corps.

1943

Mr. and Mrs. E. Harvey Lenderman, Jr., of Newburgh, N. Y., have announced the birth of a son, E. Harvey Lenderman, III, on November 3. Mrs. Lenderman is the former Elizabeth Black.

Mr. and Mrs. Abner H. Bagenstose, Jr., 29 Tanager Drive, R. D. 1, McKees Rocks, Pa., have announced the birth of a son, James Ellis, on October 20. Mrs. Bagenstose is

the former Charlotte Stopford.

Since his return from the service Winfield A. Peterson, Jr., has been married and has a two-months-old son. He is now commercial representative of the New England Telephone and Telegraph Company and is living at 51 Kilroy St., Fitchburg, Mass.

1944

Lorraine Harris, who had been a night supervisor at the Johns Hopkins Hospital, has been appointed Carlisle visiting nurse.

Lt. (j.g.) Richard Foulk, M. C., USNR, and Miss Jane Williams, daughter of Dr. Frank E. Williams of Philadelphia, were married on September 7 in the Swarthmore Presbyterian Church. Lieutenant Foulk has resumed his duties at the Philadelphia Naval Hospital.

Rev. George William Harrison was graduated from Drew Theological Seminary on October 17 with cum laude honors.

Commodore and Mrs. Edwin Thomas Short have announced the marriage of their daughter, Martha Short Burch, to Edwin E. Lippincott. II, on October 26, at Fort Monroe, Va. The bride, who was the widow of Captain Richard W. Burch, A.A.F., graduated from the Bishop's School, La Jolla, Calif., and Holton Arms, Washington, D. C. The groom is now practicing law in Media, and the couple reside at 4 Balfour Circle, Lansdowne.

1945

Mr. and Mrs. Frank A. Johnson, of Des Moines, Ia., have announced the marriage of their daughter Betty Lou to William F. Kearney, Jr., on September 6 in St. John's Lutheran Church, Des Moines. After discharge from the army last winter, Kearney entered Franklin and Marshall College to complete his college course, and will enter the Dickinson School of Law.

Raymond N. Niehouse is now a co-pilot for Pan-American Grace Airways in South America.

Peggy Buckwalter was married on November 30 in Columbus, O., to Mr. Charles Harroff, of Columbus. The couple are residing in Columbus.

Joyce L. Davids was married on October 12 in her parents' home near Carlisle to Wilbur T. Richardson, of Towson, Md.

Mary Katharine Knipe was married on September 7 in Bethanv Presbyterian Church, Lancaster, to George Duffield May, Jr., of Lancaster. Mr. May is a graduate of Franklin and Marshall College, and is associated in business with his father. The couple now reside at 14 E. Walnut St., Lancaster.

1946

The Rev. Robert S. Wagner was married to Miss Mary Ellen Bierly, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Karl R. Bierly, of Apollo, Pa., in the First Methodist Church there on October 13. The bride is a graduate of the Carlisle High School, and was a student at Juniata College at the time of her marriage. The groom is now a student at Westminster Theological Seminary, and is serving the Harrisonville charge of the Methodist Church.

Mrs. Jacob John Schnelli of Lancaster has announced the marriage of her daughter, Nancy Jane, to William Weldon Hambleton on September 7.

Martha Jane Stough, daughter of Prof. and Mrs. Mulford Stough and James H. Soltow were married on September 14 in the First Lutheran Church, Carlisle. Dickinsonians in

Basketball Schedule

Dec 11	Susquehanna	Home*
	Wittenberg	Home*
Jan. 4		Away
	Gettysburg	Away*
Jan. 10	Lehigh	Home
	F & M	Away*
Jan. 18	Western Maryland	Away*
Jan. 22	Elizabethtown	Home*
Jan. 29	Lebanon Valley	Home*
Feb. 12	Haverford	Away
Feb. 14	Ursinus	Home*
Feb. 15		Away
Feb. 22	Juniata	Away
Feb. 26		Home*
Mar. 1	Bucknell	Away
Mar. 5	Gettysburg	Home*
Mar. 8	Drexel	Away

* Varsity and Junior Varsity Games Jr. Varsity Games—7:00 P. M. Varsity Games—8:30 P. M.

the wedding party included Margaret Mac-Gregor and Florence Katsetos, who were bridesmaids, William Guy, who was best man, and Russell Emele, Thomas Lane and Elwood Stitzel, who were ushers. A reception was held following the ceremony in the Phi Delta Theta house. The groom is now a member of the junior class of the College. The couple reside at 432 W. Louther St.

Marion V. Bell is employed in the Enoch Pratt Library in Baltimore, Md.

Invitations have been issued for the marriage of Lucille E. Sweet to Vincent J. Schafmeister, Jr., of the Sophomore class, in the Salem Baptist Church, New Rochelle, N. Y., on December 27.

Miriam Lydia Prescott was married to Roger A. Woltjen, on September 14 in St. Andrew Methodist Church, Philadelphia.

Carolyn Lucille Snyder and Roger B. Turk, '43, were married on June 29 in St. Michael's Episcopal Church, Birdsboro. Dickinsonians in the wedding party were Dorothy F. Nagle, Ruth Bender and Matilda Chubb, classmates of the bride, and Harry Stitt, '40.

1947

Mr. and Mrs. Stephen Turash of Forest Hills, Long Island, have announced the marriage of their daughter, Stephanie Estelle, to Edward H. Swoyer, '44, on July 4.

OBITUARY

1889—Mrs. Mary Murray Himes Vale, daughter of the late Professor Charles Francis Himes, '55, of the College, and widow of the late Thomas E. Vale, '87, Carlisle attorney, died after a short illness in the Carlisle Hospital on December

8. She would have reached her 79th birthday on December 23.

A native of Carlisle, Mrs. Vale attended Metzger College in Carlisle and entered Dickinson in 1885. She left College before graduation. She was active in a number of community activities and was a member of the Children's Friend Society, the Daughters of the American Revolution, and was a founder of the Literary Club. She belonged to the Allison Memorial Methodist Church.

Mrs. Vale is survived by two daughters, Mary Himes Vale, '33, of Carlisle, and Mrs. Frederick Fox Rush of Phoenixville, by a sister, and two grandchildren. Services were held in Carlisle and interment was in the Westminster Cemetery in

Carlisle.

1893—Mrs. Eurania Mapes Boyd died at her home in Ridgwood, N. J., after a long illness on December 1. Following funeral services at which the Rev. Dr. Arthur H. Brown, '07, pastor of her church, officiated, interment was made in the

family plot in Florida, N. Y., her birthplace.

A graduate of the Florida, New York, Academy, Mrs. Boyd graduated from the College with an A. B. degree in 1893, and received an A. M. in 1896. The year following her graduation she was assistant postmistress in her home town, and later taught at Seward Institute and St. Christopher's Home, Dobbs Ferry, N. Y., until her marriage on February 8, 1899. She and her husband, David W. Boyd, moved to Ridgewood in 1911 from Brooklyn. She was a long-time member of the Ridgewood College Club.

In addition to her husband she is survived by two daughters, Mrs. Leslie O. White and Ruth K. Boyd, both of Ridgewood, a brother, W. P. Mapes of Bing-

hamton, a granddaughter and a great granddaughter.

1893—Mrs. E. Grace Weibley Goodyear died at the Carlisle Hospital on November 4 after an illness of only a few hours. She was the wife of Samuel M. Goodyear, member of the Board of Trustees, and the mother of Jacob M. Goodyear, '17, and Donald H. Goodyear, '23. She is also survived by a sister, Mrs. H. C. McCommon of Mechanicsburg, and a brother, R. H. Weibley of Altoona.

A native of Mechanicsburg, Mrs. Goodyear graduated from the Carlisle High School. For many years she was an active and devoted member of the First Lutheran

Church and Sunday School.

1901—Mrs. Sara Kistler Brown, wife of Dr. Glenn V. Brown, '98, of Mechanicsburg, died after a brief illness on September 7. She was a retired member of the faculty at Bucknell University, having taught chemistry there. A daughter of the late Rev. John Kistler, she graduated from the College with Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1901 and was a member of Harmon Society. She also did post-graduate work at the University of Pennsylvania and, before teaching at Bucknell, taught at Irving College.

She was a member of the Lutheran Church and was active in the work of the

D. A. R. and of the Dauphin County Historical Society.

In addition to her husband she is survived by one son, Frederick L. Brown, of New York, a sister, Freda S. Kistler, of Carlisle, and a brother, Charles R. Kistler, of Harrisburg.

Following funeral services interment was made in the Newville cemetery.

1901-Dr. LeRoy McMaster, head of the department of chemistry at Washington University, died September 1 at Barnes Hospital, St. Louis, bringing to a close his

services of almost 50 years in chemical education.

Following his graduation he was an instructor in chemistry and physics at Dickinson College for three years. In 1906, the year he received his Ph.D. degree from Johns Hopkins, he became an instructor in chemistry at Washington University. From that position he advanced to head of the department in 1914, holding the post until his death.

Dr. McMaster wrote a text in chemistry, in addition to many research articles for American and foreign magazines. He served as inspector of supplies, Indiana Bureau, U. S. Department of Interior, and advisor to the St. Louis police department. He was a charter member of the St. Louis section of the American Chemical Society, and served as secretary, chairman, councilor and director for the section and was

honorary chairman of the national meeting in 1941.

Born in Mt. Pleasant, Md., March 26, 1879, he graduated from the College in 1901, received his M.A. in 1902, and was awarded an honorary degree of doctor of science at his 30th reunion in 1931. He was a member of the Society of Chemical Industry of London, Phi Beta Kappa, Beta Theta Pi, Alpha Chi Sigma, Sigma Xi, Tau Pi Epsilon and Tau Beta Pi fraternities. He held both York and Scottish Rite memberships and was a Knight Templar and a Shriner.

1903-Merrill C. Haldeman, former trustee of the College, died at his home in Thompsontown, Pa., on March 1 after a lingering illness. He was a retired banker, real estate operator and fraternity jeweler.

A founder of the Detroit firm of Edwards, Haldeman & Co., he perhaps knew more college students than any other man, while engaged in the fraternity jewelry business. In Detroit he was also an extensive operator of real estate and was engaged in banking enterprises. He returned to his home in Thompsontown about 20 years ago and served as a justice of the peace.

Born in Thompsontown on August 8, 1882, he chose the wedding anniversary of his late parents as the occasion to set aside one of his properties as a recreational

park for the children of that community.

A graduate of Mifflin Academy, he entered the College in 1899 and graduated in 1903, when he began touring the various colleges of the country representing fraternity jewelry houses. Later he established his own firm in Detroit.

He was a member of Phi Delta Theta fraternity and a vestryman in the Episcopal

Church, Thompsontown, where interment was made.

1911L-Robert W. Hankee, of Harrisburg, insurance executive and former football player, died suddenly of a heart attack while on a trip to Wilkes-Barre in his room in the Hotel Sterling on October 10. He was manager of the Harrisburg branch office of the Firemen's Insurance Group.

A native of Pittston, he graduated from Wyoming Seminary and the Dickinson

Law School. He was a member of the Pine Street Presbyterian Church of Harrisburg, S. A. E. fraternity, Chandler Lodge No. 227, F. & A. M. of Reading, the Harrisburg

Consistory, and the Zembo Temple of Shrine.

He is survived by his widow, Mrs. Anna Kielty Hankee, and six children, Robert E., '36, of Paxtang; Lt. William B., or the U. S. Army Air Force, stationed at San Antonio, Tex.; Kathleen, Mary, Alice, Thomas and Richard at home. He is also survived by three sisters.

Following funeral services burial was made in Shoop's Church Cemetery.

1914—Lee Rogers Allen, vice-president of the County Fire Insurance Company of Philadelphia and prominent clubman, died suddenly of a heart attack at his home, "Westcott," Bryn Mawr, Pa., on October 19.

Born on May 12, 1918, he was the son of the late Dr. and Mrs. A. R. Allen of Carlisle, Pa. He was a graduate of Conway Hall and a member of Beta Theta Pi fraternity. For some years he had been associated with the County Fire Insurance Company, rising from assistant secretary to treasurer, and then to vice-president. He maintained a life-long interest in genealogy and historical research, and received the degree of fellow from the American Institute of Genealogy in 1939.

An Episcopalian, he was a member of the Rittenhouse Club of Philadelphia, Sons of the Revolution, the Baronial Order of Runnemeade, the Founders and Patriots of America, the Anglers Club of New York, a director of City Institute, and a member of University Lodge 610, F. & A. M.

Upon leaving Dickinson he studied art for several years and made a number of paintings before he entered the business world. He was also recognized as one of Pennsylvania's fly fishermen.

He is survived by his wife, Julia Westcott Allen. Funeral services were held on October 22 at the Church of the Redeemer, Bryn Mawr, Pa.

1916L—John C. McKone died at his home in Hollidaysburg on November 7. He was the son of Marion C. and Jennie Belle Elliott McKone, both now deceased, and was born in Bedford 55 years ago. He was the last member of his immediate family.

Following his graduation from the Law School he served in World War I and then practiced law in Texas until a few years ago when he returned to Hollidaysburg.

He was a member of Sigma Chi fraternity.

1920—John F. Gilbert died after a two-year illness in Buhl Hospital, Sharon, Pa., on November 16.

Born in Sharon on November 22, 1897, he was the son of Cora Pettit and the late Frank B. Gilbert. His father was the first mayor of Sharon. Upon his graduation from the Sharon schools he entered the College, and during World War I was a member of the Dickinson unit of the S. A. T. C. in which he served as a top sergeant. Following his graduation from the College he did graduate work at the University of Pennsylvania.

Throughout his life he was engaged in the insurance business in Sharon and was also president of the Community Loan Company and the Consumers Discount Company. He was active in the Pennsylvania Association of Insurance Agents. He was a member of Phi Delta Theta fraternity and of the Masonic fraternity, New Castle Consistory, and the Zem Zem Temple of the Shrine, Erie. He was also a member

of the Sharon Country Club, the Buhl Club, the Elks and the Knights of Pythias,

and of the First Presbyterian Church, Sharon.

On June 15, 1933, at Warren, O., he married Miss Ruth Roberts, who survives with two sons, Robert and Edward. He is also survived by his mother and a brother, Samuel P. Gilbert, Sharon.

1922—Jane Keeley Stewart, a former public health nurse, died on September

22 in Shady Side Hospital, Pittsburgh.

A graduate of Hollidaysburg High School, she was also a graduate of the Shady Side Hospital School of Nursing. She was a member of the Pennsylvania Nurses Association and or the East Liberty Presbyterian Church.

She spent fourteen years in the U. S. Public Health Service at posts in Pittsburgh, Detroit, Staten Island and Ellis Island. She is survived by her sister, Blanche E.

Stewart, '19, a teacher in the Belmar School in Pittsburgh.

1923—Herbert Wilks, prominent hotelman and manager of the Hotel Flanders, Ocean City, N. J., died at his home there on November 10 following a heart attack

suffered the night before.

Born in New York City, January 8, 1894, he graduated from the Pennington School. Shortly after he became a student at the College he left to become resident manager of the Hotel Normandy in Ocean City. When the Flanders opened in 1923 he became assistant manager, becoming manager in 1943. He was also associated with hotels in the South and in Bermuda. Shortly after he became manager of the Flanders he suffered a stroke and became a semi-invalid. Until a year ago, however, he remained a director of the National Bank in Ocean City, and he was active in the Kiwanis Club, the Masonic fraternity, the American Legion and the Methodist Church.

Surviving are his wife, Kathryn, a teacher in the Ocean City High School, and

a sister, Mrs. John G. Taylor.

1941—Charles Lawrence Bullock, who withdrew from college in his junior

year because of illness, died on November 2.

Born in Mt. Holly, N. J., October 30, 1919, he graduated from the Haddon Heights High School in 1937 when he entered the College. He was a member of Alpha Chi Rho fraternity, a member of the Dramatic Club and of the business staff of the Dickinsonian and the Microcosm, and was also a member of the Glee Club and International Relations Club. He was a member of the Haddon Heights Methodist Church and its young people's organizations.

His father, who was an alumnus of Weslyan University, Middletown, Conn., died in 1942. His mother died when he was two years old, and he is survived by his

step-mother.



DIRECTORY OF ALUMNI CLUBS

Dickinson Club of Altoona

Dickinson Club of Atlantic City

Marjorie L. McIntire, '10 President Lloyd E. Spangler, '22 Vice-President Mabel E. Kirk, '05 ... Secretary-Treasurer 4301 Atlantic Ave., Atlantic City, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Baltimore

Pikesville, Md.

Dickinson Club of Boston

Dickinson Club of California

Robert Hays Smith, '98LPresident Samuel H. Beetem, '92 ...Vice-President Joseph Z. Hertzler, '13, Secretary-Treasurer 1865 Sacramento St.. San Francisco, Cal.

Samuel W. Witwer, Jr., '30 President Dr. Pierce Butler, '06 Vice-President Mrs. William G. Gray Secty.-Treas. 128 Laurel Ave., Wilmette, Ill.

Dickinson Club of Delaware

Richard H. Ellis, '41 ... Vice-President Ivy M. Hudson, '23 Secretary

Wyoming, Delaware

Leslie H. Gluckman, '27L Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Harrisburg

Dickinson Club of Michigan

Roscoe O. Bonisteel, '12 President Fllsworth H. Mish. '09 ... Vice-President Wendell J. LaCoe. '27. Secretary-Treasurer 511 Pauline Blvd., Ann Arbor, Mich.

Dickinson Club of New York

Mervin G. Eppley, '17President Dr. Irving A. Marsland, '14, Vice-President Henry Logan, '10Secretary-Treasurer 26 Court Street, Brooklyn, N. Y.

Dickinson Alumni Association of Northeastern Pennsylvania

Judge John S. Fine. '14L ... President R. Wallace White. '29, '31L, Vice-President Edward E. Johnson, Jr., '32 ... Treasurer Hopkin T. Rowlands. '31L ... Secretary 930 Miners National Bank Bldg., Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey

Dickinson Club of Ohio

Secty .- Treas.

3000 Lincoln Blvd., Cleveland Heights, O.

Dickinson Club of Philadelphia

Dickinson Club of Pittsburgh

Nicholas Unkovic, '32LPresident Mrs. R. C. McElfish, '14 ...Vice-President Thomas E. Whitten, '26L, Secretary-Treas, 818 Frick Bldg., Pittsburgh, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Reading-Berks

Dickinson Club of Southern New Jersey

Dickinson Club of Central New Jersey

Dickinson Club of Washington

Rev. Edward G. Latch, D.D., '21, President Dr. F. Y. Jaggers, Jr., '39 ..Vice-President Maude E. Wilson, '14 Secretary 1789 Lanter Place, Washington, D. C. Paul A. Mangan, '34 Treasurer

Dickinson Club of West Branch Valley

Dickinson Club of York

Earl M. Schroeder, '26 President Dorothy M. Badders, '32 Vice-President J. R. Budding, '32, '36L Secty.-Treas. 19 East Market St., York, Pa.

New York Alumnae Club

Philadelphia Alumnae Club

